11-22-2011

Woodworth v. State Ex Rel. Id. Transp. Bd.
Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38884

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

A legal but unmarked crosswalk on a State Highway running through the city of Nampa was adequate for traffic and pedestrian volumes when it was designed in 1954. However, Nampa's population and thus the traffic and pedestrian volumes grew substantially over the next 53 years, such that pedestrians were struck by vehicles with ever-increasing frequency until, following plaintiff's October 2007 accident and another one just a month later, the city of Nampa installed warnings consisting of pavement markings, flashing amber lights, signs and several other pedestrian safety enhancements. At no time did the state make any effort to fulfill its duty to inspect for and correct or warn of the conditions that made the unmarked crosswalk unreasonably dangerous to pedestrians. Instead it entered into a "joint maintenance agreement" with Nampa whereby Nampa was to perform maintenance – but not any necessary improvements – to the crosswalk. The lower court granted the state summary judgment on the alternate grounds that (a) the "arises out of a plan or design" immunity set out in Idaho Code § 6-904 (7) affords the state immunity even for subsequent non-design failures to inspect for, find and warn of or correct dangerous conditions that come into existence after the location was designed and (b) the State's "High Accident Location" program, which merely *identifies* the 20 worst locations in the entire state highway system, fulfilled all of the duties it owed concerning the highways in its system. This appeal challenges both of the lower court's alternate grounds for summary judgment in favor of the state. Plaintiff appellant maintains the case doesn't "arise out of" the original plan or design at all, but instead arises out of the state's *subsequent* failure to inspect for and correct or warn of *subsequently-arising* hazards that stemmed from the substantially changed traffic and pedestrian volumes flowing through the crosswalk. If the lower court's reasoning were accepted, then the state would effectively be excused from its continuing duty to inspect, study and correct or warn of dangerous conditions on any of the highways in its system so long as the highways were designed in accordance with engineering standards – regardless of how *later* demands on the highways might render them unreasonably dangerous to the motorists and pedestrians who use them.

A State Highway designed and built in the mid 1950's runs through the City of Nampa with a 35 MPH speed limit. No pavement markings or other warning features were installed at one of its legal crosswalks, which exist as a matter of statute. Nampa installed overhead street lights along the sides, creating "glare bombs" that make pedestrians using the crosswalk

especially hard to see. The population of Nampa grew substantially over the ensuing half-century, but still no pavement markings or other safety features were installed at the crosswalk. By 2007, the frequency of cars hitting pedestrians in or near the crosswalk at night had reached seven in five years, counting plaintiff.

Plaintiff timely filed a notice of tort claim, which the State's "Claims Adjudicator" denied on the stated ground

"The information we have obtained indicates that the State of Idaho has a joint agreement with the City of Nampa regarding maintenance of the 11th Avenue North in Nampa. The *city* is responsible for crosswalks and various traffic control devices within the City Limits. The *only* responsibility the State would have regarding the City's plans to install a crosswalk would be to review and approve the plans to ensure they are in compliance with I[daho] T[ransportation D[eartment] standards. Based upon our review we do not find that the State has liability in this matter and must deny the claim."

(Exhibit H to affidavit of Pat Furey, R., p. 269, emphasis added.) Plaintiff sued the State, by and through its Idaho Transportation Board and Transportation Department (hereinafter, collectively, "the Department") and Nampa (eventually reaching a settlement with the latter, which has been dismissed from the appeal). In the complaint, plaintiff specifically pleaded the authority set out in *Roberts v. Transportation Dept.*, 121 Idaho 727, 827 P.2d 1178 (Idaho App.,1991), *affirmed*, 121 Idaho 723, 827 P.2d 1174 (1992) i.e., that the State's statutory duties with respect to State Highways are non-delegable. He then alleged the State was negligent in its failure to perform any engineering studies of the location and to correct or warn of the dangerous conditions such a study would have shown.

The Department then abandoned its claimed "transfer of duty" defense and instead asserted that Idaho Code § 6-904(7) ("arises out of a plan or design" immunity) shields it from liability. Plaintiff has never contested the adequacy of the original 1954 plan or design, however, but attacks the Department's proposition that the adequacy of a design at its inception affords

infinite immunity for *subsequent* negligent failure to inspect for, find, and implement necessary safety improvements, including pedestrian warnings, when changed conditions warrant them.

In addition, the Department urged its "High Accident Location" program (the effect of which was to identify only the 20 worst areas in the State Highway System) excused it, due to "funding limitations," from correcting any other defects in its highways. Plaintiff also contests this, because the Department's proposition that a claimed "policy" against inspecting for, finding and correcting any but the 20 very worst safety hazards in the State Highway System is foreclosed by its statutory duty to inspect for, find and correct safety hazards in *all* of the locations for which it is statutorily responsible. Moreover, the Department offered no evidence whatsoever of any "funding limits" that prevented it from inspecting for the hazards that Nampa found and fixed itself.

Finally, given the Department's early and longstanding reliance on its intended handoff of responsibility to the City of Nampa (R., p. 269), the appeal presents an urgent opportunity for the Court to answer the question it specifically left open in *Roberts v. Transportation Dept.*, 121 Idaho 727, 732 n. 4, 827 P.2d 1178, 1183 n. 4 (Idaho App.,1991), *affirmed*, 121 Idaho 723, 827 P.2d 1174 (1992), i.e., whether the Department lawfully may enlist another entity to help execute its own non-delegable duties at all.

The concise nature of the case, then, is that it is primarily a dispute over the extent of the Department's "arises out of a plan or design" immunity: Does the fact a design was in accordance with engineering standards or was duly approved when done forever after immunize the Department for its subsequent failure to inspect for, find and correct or warn of hazards that have arisen over the ensuing decades? Stated another way, it presents for the Court's determination the question whether the "perpetual immunity" part or the "governmental liability"

part of *Liefeld v. Johnson*, 104 Idaho 357, 659 P.2d 111 (1983) controls plaintiff's case as plaintiff pleaded it, rather than as the defendant and the lower court re-cast it.

A secondary aspect of the case is that it presents a dispute as to whether the Department can avoid its statutory duty to inspect for, find and correct hazards simply by adopting a "program" to look only at the 20 very worst ones in its entire system.

Course of proceedings and disposition below

On October 29, 2007, Plaintiff pedestrian was hit and severely injured in an unmarked, ill-lighted crosswalk¹ that presented what is known as a "glare bomb" effect to motorists. He was the seventh in five years.² (R., p. 222.) He timely served a notice of tort claim on both the Idaho Department of Transportation (hereinafter, "the Department") and the City of Nampa, since the crosswalk was on a State Highway that went through Nampa's city limits. The Department's denial of the tort claim by its "Claims Adjudicator" Kim Coffman as quoted above, declared that since it had entered into a "Joint Maintenance Agreement" with Nampa, then any responsibility for failure to mark, sign or otherwise improve the crosswalk was solely Nampa's.

Upon the denial of his tort claim by both entities, plaintiff sued them (Complaint, R., p. 5 – 20). The complaint specifically asserted the authority of *Roberts v. Transportation Dept.*, 121 Idaho 727, 827 P.2d 1178 (Idaho App.,1991), *affirmed*, 121 Idaho 723, 827 P.2d 1174 (1992), which had unequivocally held the duties of the State were non-delegable – a holding the

¹ The existence of a "crosswalk" is determined by statute, I.C. § 49-104(14)(a) and § 49-110 (10)(a), and not by whether it is painted on the pavement.

² About a month later, the eighth one (an elderly woman) would be hit and killed.

Department completely ignored in its denial of liability. (Denial of tort claim, R., p. 269.) Nampa, on the other hand, claimed it had no responsibility, either, since the joint maintenance agreement only required it to maintain – but not improve or correct – that which was already in place. In other words, according to the defendants, *no one* had responsibility for the safety of crosswalks on the State's highway through Nampa's city limits.

Both defendants moved for summary judgment, with the Department basing its motion on I.C. 6-904(7) (plan or design immunity) and its "High Accident Location" ("HAL") program and Nampa on the fact it was a State highway, rather than a city street. At the hearing, plaintiff's counsel focused on his common law negligence claim to the exclusion of his negligence per se claim, given the persuasive reasoning of the Washington Court of Appeals in the just-found case of *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle*, 223 P.3d 1230 (Wash. App. 2009).

The lower court, in a memorandum decision, granted the motions and entered judgments for both defendants. (R., p. 327-354.) Plaintiff timely appealed (R., p. 355-363), following which he reached the settlement with Nampa and stipulated to its dismissal from the appeal.

Statement of Facts

The subject intersection includes a pedestrian crosswalk as a matter of the law codified at I.C. § 49-104(14)(a) and § 49-110 (10)(a). It was designed by the Department in 1954. Affidavit of Kevin Sablan, R., p. 124. The crosswalk remained completely unimproved – that is, it had no warnings consisting of pavement paint, "pedestrian crossing" signs, flashers, or anything else – for the next *fifty-three years*. On October 29, 2007, plaintiff was struck in the crosswalk and severely injured.

The Department's motion for summary judgment was brought on a perfunctory set of facts (R., p. 113-115) which it purported to paraphrase from the allegations of plaintiff's complaint. It then concluded:

"It is the position of [the Department] that *despite Woodworth's allegations*, it is entitled to immunity under the exceptions to governmental liability pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-904(7) as the roadway at issue was appropriately designed in conformance with the standards at the time [i.e., 1954] and approved in advance of construction. Further, the State's monitoring program in place at the time [of the accident, i.e., 2007] reflecting accident data for the Intersection and surrounding intersections reflected no deviation from any standard, which required affirmative action on the part of the State."

State of Idaho's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at 3 (R., p. 115), emphasis added. Because the Department's abbreviated paraphrasing of plaintiff's allegations was incomplete and misleading in (a) its suggestion that plaintiff was jaywalking instead of crossing in a legal albeit unmarked crosswalk and in (b) its attempt to re-cast plaintiff's theory of recovery as an attack on the crosswalk's design instead of an attack on the defendant's failure to inspect for, find and warn of or correct subsequently-arising hazards, they are quoted or paraphrased accurately as follows.

Scene of the Accident.

At all material times there existed in the State of Idaho and in its municipalities a number of roads and highways carrying sufficient traffic volume as to be designated by the Department as State Highways and comprising parts of the state highway system. The passage of a segment of a State Highway through a municipality at no time vitiated, altered or changed its character as a designated State Highway, notwithstanding the popular name of such segment as a street, boulevard, avenue or the like. (Complaint, paragraph 4, R., p. 7.) The Department was statutorily obligated by Idaho Code § 40-313 (1) to "erect and maintain, whenever necessary for public safety and convenience, suitable signs, markers, signals and other devices to control,

guide and warn pedestrians and vehicular traffic . . . traveling upon the state highway system.”
(Complaint, paragraph 5, R., p. 7.)

There existed within the city limits of Nampa a State Highway segment known as Eleventh Avenue North that ran generally north-south and carried two lanes each direction with a turn lane in the center for a total of 5 separate lanes. The segment material to this action was cross-intersected on its north end by 4th Street North (a city street that was not part of the state highway system) and cross-intersected on its south end by 2nd Street North (likewise a city street that was not a part of the state highway system). Adjacent to the segment on its west side was a commercial strip mall occupied by Paul's Market (a popular grocery outlet) and a number of smaller businesses that shared a large parking lot fronting onto the sidewalk that ran parallel to Eleventh Avenue North. Directly east across Eleventh Avenue North from Paul's Market and the strip mall was an area consisting almost entirely of residences. This residential area was generally bisected by 3rd Street North (still another city street that was not a part of the state highway system), which “T”-ed onto Eleventh Avenue North in the middle of the subject segment from its east side and opposite the entrance to the Paul's Market parking lot. (Complaint, paragraph 6, R., p. 7-8.) An aerial map is attached as Exhibit A for illustrative purposes.

Because the strip mall parking lot exited onto Eleventh Avenue North directly across from the entrance to 3rd Street North serving the residences, and because the only through intersections (as distinct from the subject “T” one) were a full city block to the north or to the south, pedestrians going between the residential area and the strip mall regularly crossed Eleventh Avenue North from the parking lot immediately opposite the entrance to 3rd Street North. Although this was a legal crosswalk (I.C. § 49-104(14)(a) and 49-110), it had poor

lighting, no pavement markings and no traffic warning signals. This lawful but unmarked crosswalk had been regularly used by pedestrians for many years before the accident. (Complaint, paragraph 7, R., p. 8.) Since the crosswalk was so frequently used by pedestrians and because it lacked traffic control devices, warnings or markings; and because the lawfully permitted speed in the four main travel lanes of Eleventh Avenue North was fully 35 miles per hour, the crosswalk was sufficiently hazardous to public safety as to present the requisite “warrants” for a substantially improved pedestrian crosswalk system and enhanced lighting. The need for these safety enhancements would have been shown by a competent traffic engineering study had the Department caused one to be done. (Complaint, paragraph 8, R., p. 8.)

On multiple occasions before October 29, 2007, pedestrians using the crosswalk were struck and seriously injured by motor vehicles, all of which accidents resulted in accident reports duly filed with the Department. (Complaint, paragraph 9, R., p. 8.) At some point prior to October 29, 2007, the Department enlisted Nampa to help in the execution of its duties with respect to public safety on the subject segment of its highway. This was admitted by the State of Idaho in its July 31, 2008 denial of the tort claim (R., p. 269) attached hereto as Exhibit B:

“Your claim against the State of Idaho filed on behalf of your client, Brian P. Woodworth, has been reviewed.

The information we have obtained indicates that the State of Idaho has a joint agreement with the City of Nampa regarding maintenance of the 11th Avenue North in Nampa. The *city* is responsible for crosswalks and various traffic control devices within the City Limits. ***The only responsibility the State would have regarding the City’s plans to install a crosswalk would be to review and approve the plans to ensure they are in compliance with ITD [the Department] standards.***

(Complaint, paragraph 10, R., p. 9, emphasis added.)

By October 29, 2007, at 7:34 p.m., no pertinent traffic engineering study had been conducted, the crosswalk still had no pavement markings, lights, signs or other warnings to

benefit the safety of pedestrians and, except for the dim illumination provided by the lamps on nearby poles, it was dark.³ (Complaint, paragraph 12, R., p. 10.)

The accident.

On October 29, 2007, at 7:34 p.m., plaintiff left the Paul's Market parking lot pushing a shopping cart eastward across Eleventh Avenue North at the crosswalk. As he passed the midpoint and approached the nearer of the two northbound lanes, the driver of a northbound vehicle saw him and stopped, allowing him to proceed. As he traversed the very last of Eleventh Avenue North's five lanes, however, the driver of another northbound car didn't see him and hit him at about the posted speed of 35 miles per hour, causing severe injury. (Complaint, paragraph 13, R., p. 10.)

The Department's actual and constructive knowledge of the hazardous condition of the intersection.

Not only did the Department have actual knowledge of the hazardous condition of the crosswalk from the accident reports required by law to be filed with it, the Department also owed affirmative statutory duties pursuant to Idaho Code § 40-310, 40-313, 40-502, 40-1310, 40-312 (adoption of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, "MUTCD"), MUTCD § (A) 1A-1, MUTCD § (C) 1A-3, (D) 1A-3.1, (E) 1A-4, (R) 2C-1 and other provisions to inquire, to inspect and to cause to be made and kept various surveys, engineering studies, maps, plans,

³ Worse, the overhead street lights Nampa had installed were of the type that, instead of directing their light downward, diffused it outward creating what traffic safety engineers call "veiling luminance" or "glare bombs" that make pedestrians even more difficult to see. (Stephen J. Lewis, P.E., "11th Avenue Pedestrian Study; Findings and Recommendations" to City of Nampa, dated November 23, 2007 – less than a month after the accident. Attachment to Affidavit of Kent Fugal (R., p. 66-70.))

specifications and estimates for the alteration, repair and maintenance of state highways (and as far as practicable of all highways in the state), and for that purpose to demand and to receive reports and copies of records from all other highway officials in the state. (Complaint, paragraph 17, R., p. 12.) However, because the Department erroneously believed it had legally and successfully transferred its pertinent duties completely away from itself by means of the “joint maintenance agreement” referenced in its tort claim denial attached as Exhibit B, it completely failed to undertake any effort to fulfill its duties concerning the subject segment of Eleventh Avenue North. Consequently, no competent engineering study was done before plaintiff was struck in the unmarked crosswalk. (Complaint, paragraph 18, R., p. 12.)

Had the Department accepted and fulfilled its duty to apprise itself of the crosswalk’s hazardous condition and had it done or caused to be done a competent engineering study as required, the product of such study would have presented warrants for the installation of a two-section crosswalk system that would include enhanced overhead lighting and, for each of the two halves of the crosswalk, four pedestrian-activated flashing yellow warning lights, two pedestrian-depicting diamond-shaped warning signs, a safety island in the middle of Eleventh Avenue North with a staggered alignment of the pedestrian lanes to require a pause in the island before proceeding across the other two traffic lanes and other signs and markings. (Complaint, paragraph 19, R., p. 12.)

The Department having failed to fulfill or even attempt to fulfill its non-delegable statutory duties regarding the crosswalk at Eleventh Avenue North, Nampa’s Public Works Director stepped up to obtain the engineering study that the Department should have performed, but only after it was too late to benefit the safety of plaintiff. On November 5, 2007 (just six

days after the subject accident), Nampa Public Works Director Fuss submitted a "Staff Report" to the City Council stating:

"A serious vehicle/pedestrian accident occurred on the evening of Monday, October 29, near the intersection of 11th Avenue North and 3rd Street North. Public Works Staff were charged to look into available options for pedestrians at the intersection with emphasis on a pedestrian actuated in-pavement flashing crosswalk.

* * *

Preliminary Finding

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