12-28-2011

Woodworth v. State Ex Rel. Id. Transp. Bd. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38884

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

ARGUMENT

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, the State contended that it was entitled to immunity from Appellant’s claims pursuant to Idaho Code 6-904(7) because the highway at issue was engineered and designed in accordance with the standards at the time, and approved in advance of

construction. Furthermore, the State's monitoring program in place at the time assembling accident data for the Intersection and surrounding intersections indicated no deviation from any standard, which would require affirmative action on the part of the State.

The Trial Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of the State on these two grounds. First, the Trial Court properly ruled that the State was immune from the Appellant's claims pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-904(7). Second, the Trial Court properly found that, even if the State was not entitled to immunity under Idaho Code § 6-904(7), it likely discharged any statutory duties it owed. Furthermore, the Court reasoned that, in any event, the Appellant did not controvert the State's material facts on the issue of breach of duty.

A. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Idaho Code § 6-904(7) Applied to and Provided Governmental Immunity From Appellant's Causes of Action.

The Appellant contends that the Trial Court committed reversible error when it found that Idaho Code § 6-904(7) applied to and immunized the State from the Appellant's causes of action. In support of this argument, the Appellant argues that Idaho Code § 6-904(7) does not apply because his causes of action do not "arise" out of the design of the crosswalk. Instead, the gist of the Appellant's claims, so the argument goes, is that the State is liable for failing to inspect for dangerous conditions at the crosswalk, and correct them. The argument fails because it mischaracterizes the Appellant's own causes of action and, as a result, mistakenly asserts that Idaho Code § 6-904(7) is not on point.

Idaho Code § 6-904(7) is an immunity statute, which states in pertinent part:

6-904. EXCEPTIONS TO GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY. A governmental entity and its employees while acting within the course and scope of their employment and without malice or criminal intent shall not be liable for any claim which:

* * * *

7. Arises out of a plan or design for construction or improvement to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, or other public property where such plan or design is prepared in substantial conformance with engineering or design standards in effect at the time of preparation of the plan or design or approved in advance of the construction by the legislative body of the governmental entity or by some other body or administrative agency, exercising discretion by authority to give such approval.

In determining whether this provision applies, the threshold issue is whether the claims arise out of the “plan or design for the construction or improvement” of a state highway.

Here, despite Appellant’s tortuous attempts to persuade otherwise, the ineluctable fact is that his causes of action arise out of the “plan or design for the construction or improvement” of a state highway. Consider the following allegations contained in the Complaint:

- The Intersection had “poor lighting” and lacked a “marked crosswalk or traffic warning signals. *See R.*, at 4.
- The Intersection “lacked traffic control devices, warnings or markings.” *See R.*, at 4.
- As of the date of accident giving rise to the Complaint, the Intersection “still had no traffic control devices, warnings or markings *designed* to benefit the safety of pedestrians” The Intersection “lacked traffic control devices, warnings or

markings.” *See R.*, at 6 (emphasis added).

These allegations constitute a plain and obvious attack on the “plan or design” of the Intersection, which undisputedly was created in or about 1954. Simply put, the Appellants assert that the “plan or design” of the Intersection was negligent or otherwise substandard because it lacked traffic control devices, markings or warnings “*designed*” to benefit the safety of pedestrians. Stated another way, the design of the Intersection lacked improvements that, in Appellant’s opinion, promote pedestrian safety. These allegations constitute a claim “aris[ing] out of a plan or design for construction or improvement” to a State highway.

Likewise, Appellant’s allegation that ITD should have initiated a competent traffic *engineering* study to identify and remedy perceived defects in Plan 3B29 further supports the State’s contention that Appellant’s claim arises out of a “plan or design for construction and improvement” to a State highway. In particular, the Appellant argues that a competent traffic engineering study would have warranted “enhancements,” including upgraded lighting, four (4) pedestrian activated flashing yellow lights, two pedestrian diamond warning lights, and a safety island. These “enhancements” are another name for “improvements.” They evidence a challenge to Plan 3B29 because the Appellant asserts they would have increased pedestrian safety, and, thereby, would have decreased the possibility of the accident giving rise to this lawsuit. Trying to characterize the claim as a failure to inspect, improve and maintain the Intersection, as Appellant does, draws a specious and meaningless distinction, and represents a challenge to a plan that, as analyzed below,

substantially conformed with engineering and design principles that existed at the time it was prepared. Furthermore, under the Appellant's interpretation, all that is needed to undermine the plain language and intent of Idaho Code § 6-904(7), is to frame one's claim in terms of failure to inspect for and remedy a perceived changed and dangerous condition. Such an interpretation would vitiate the design immunity statute, rendering it meaningless surplusage.

Because the Appellant's causes of action allege claims that "arise[] out of a plan or design for construction or improvement" to a State highway, the analysis turns to whether the State can establish:

(1) the existence of a plan or design that was (2) either prepared in substantial conformance with existing engineering or design standards or approved in advance of construction by the legislative or administrative authority.

See Lawton v. City of Pocatello, 126 Idaho 454, 886 P.2d 330, 335 (1994).

To prove the existence of a plan or design, an actual writing need not be proffered, and substantial conformance to then-existing design standards could be established where a plan was made in compliance with, for instance, a national publication promulgated by the Federal Highway Administration. *Id.*, 886 P.2d at 335. Unless a plaintiff refutes a government's showing that it has satisfied these two requirements, the government will have immunity under the statute. *See Brown v. City of Pocatello*, 148 Idaho 802, 811, 229 P.3d 1164, 1173 (2010)

In this instance, the Trial Court did not err in ruling the State satisfied the *Lawton* elements. First, the Trial Court correctly found the existence of a plan, and, therefore, the first element in the

Idaho Code § 6-904(7) analysis is established. As the Trial Court acknowledged in its decision, the State relied in part on the Affidavit of Kevin Sablan (“Sablan Affidavit”). Attached as Exhibit A to the Sablan Affidavit is Plan 3B29, which was prepared in or around August 1954. *See R.*, at 124. In his affidavit, Mr. Sablan stated his belief that Plan 3B29 was the most recent set of construction plans for the highway. *See R.*, at 124. The Appellant, the Court observed, did not controvert the State’s contention that Plan 3B29 was the most recent set of plans or designs for the highway. *See R.*, at 345. As such, it is undisputed that a plan or design existed.

Turning to the second prong, it is clear the Trial Court did not err in finding that Plan 3B29 was approved in advance by an appropriate administrative body before 1955, and substantially conformed with the design and engineering standards in effect at the time they were prepared. For this element, the State relied on the Affidavit of Kent J. Fugal, a consultant for the Co-Defendant Nampa. Mr. Fugal’s affidavit unequivocally states that Plan 3B29 was prepared in substantial conformance with the existing engineering or design standards in effect at the time of preparation. *See R.*, at 52. Additionally, the fact that construction was performed on the site years ago demonstrates a de facto approval of the plans through the ITD administrative process. *See R.*, at 44.

The Appellant did not dispute the evidence the State submitted. The Appellant relied on the report of its engineer, Edward Stevens. As the Trial Court emphasized in its memorandum decision, the Stevens’ report opines whether the Intersection satisfies requirements set forth in a 2002 Federal Highway Administration study entitled Safety Effects of Marked Versus Unmarked Crosswalks at

Uncontrolled Locations for the installation of a marked crosswalk and other improvements. *See R.*, at 345. But whether the Intersection satisfies the requirements of a report authored nearly fifty years (50) after the initial design of the Intersection is irrelevant to the issue of whether Plan 3B29 was prepared in substantial conformance with engineering or design standards in effect in 1954. Therefore, the Trial Court correctly found that the second prong of the *Lawton* analysis was satisfied and that the State was immune from Appellant's claims pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-904(7).

Appellant's continued reliance on *Roberts v. Transportation Department*, 121 Idaho 727, 827 P.2d 1178 (Ct. App. 1991) and *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wash.App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009) is irrelevant to whether the Trial Court correctly found that § 6-904(7) applied. The Appellant relies on *Roberts v. Transportation Department*, 121 Idaho 727, 827 P.2d 1178 (Ct. App. 1991) for the proposition that the State cannot delegate its statutory duties. In *Roberts v. Transportation Department*, the plaintiff sued ITD for failing to erect and maintain proper traffic control signs. The district court granted ITD's motion for summary judgment because it found ITD either did not owe the duties that were allegedly breached to the plaintiff or was immune under the "discretionary function" exception to government liability pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-904(1). *Id.* 730, 827 P.2d at 1181. The court of appeals reversed the district court, concluding that ITD had a statutory duty to furnish, erect and maintain signs on its highways pursuant to Idaho Code § 40-201, and that ITD could not undermine that duty by promulgating contradictory rules. Nor could it avoid its statutory duties by delegating its duty to another entity. *Id.* 732, 827 P.2d at 1183.

The Appellant's reliance on *Roberts v. Transportation Department* lacks merit because, in that case, the Idaho Court of Appeals did not consider the effect of Idaho Code § 6-904(7) on the plaintiff's causes of action. Furthermore, it is clear the State could have non-delegable duties relating to the crosswalk at issue in this lawsuit, yet still enjoy immunity under Idaho Code § 6-904(7). Indeed, "duty" is implicit in the concept of immunity statutes, which *immunize* a party for a breach of a *duty*, provided the immunity statute's requirements are met.

Moreover, as the Trial Court correctly reasoned, the Appellant's reliance on *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle* is of no assistance. First, unlike as in *Chen*, there is no evidence in this case that either the State or Nampa modified the Intersection or conducted a traffic study since its original design. But more importantly, the defense in *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle* was a common defense to a negligence action, specifically, that the plaintiff was outside the scope of a duty owed. By contrast, the defense at issue in this case is a statutory immunity defense, which has clear requirements if it is to apply. As analyzed above, the State satisfied the requirements of Idaho Code § 6-904(7), and the Appellant never offered disputing evidence. As such, the State is immune from the Appellant's claims.

Based on the foregoing, the Court should affirm the Trial Court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the State pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-904(7).

B. The Trial Court Correctly Found that the State’s Highway Accident Location (HAL) Program Likely Fulfilled Any Duties Owed Pursuant to Idaho Code § 40-201.

Idaho Code §40-201 and other related statutes makes a general pronouncement about the State’s obligation regarding State highways. It states in pertinent part:

40-201. STATE HIGHWAY, COUNTY HIGHWAY, HIGHWAY DISTRICTS AND CITY HIGHWAY SYSTEMS ESTABLISHED. ... The improvement of highways and highway systems is hereby declared to be the established and permanent policy of the State of Idaho, and the duty is hereby imposed upon the state, in all counties, cities, and highway districts in the state, to improve and maintain the highways within their respective jurisdiction as hereinafter defined, within the limits of the funds available. (Emphasis added).

Assuming that Idaho Code § 40-201 is specific enough to prescribe the required standard of conduct,¹ the State’s HAL program satisfies the statutory mandate. As set forth in the Affidavit of Kevin Sablan, a District 3 traffic engineer, the State established the HAL program. *See R.*, at 124. The HAL program identifies potential safety trouble spots on the State Highway system. *See R.*, at 124 & 91-112. The protocol of the HAL Program is set forth in the ITD’s HAL Report Methodology. *See R.*, at 91-112. The methodology for identifying potential trouble spots is based on a sophisticated formula which considers crash frequencies, the economic cost to society and the rate crash for the locations. *See R.*, at 91-112. . As part of Mr. Sablan’s duties as a traffic engineer

¹ A court may rely on a positive enactment of law for the purpose of establishing negligence when: (1) the enactment clearly and unambiguously defines the required standard of conduct; (2) the enactment was intended to prevent the type of harm the defendant’s violation of the enactment caused; (3) the plaintiff is a member of the class of persons the enactment was designed to protect; and (4) violation of the enactment was the proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injury. *Brizendine v. Nampa Meridian Irr. Dist.*, 97 Idaho 580, 586, 548 P.2d 80, 86 (1976).

for District 3, which includes the Intersection, he reviews and analyzes HAL reports yearly to determine the top twenty locations within the District that pose a potential safety deficiency. *See R.*, at 124.

As the Trial Court observed, the District 3 HAL data that Mr. Saban reviewed before the accident involving the Appellant did not identify either the Intersection or any of the surrounding intersections as posing a potential safety problem. *See R.*, at 124 & 346. Therefore, the State not only monitored the entire highway system “within the limits of the funds available,”² but it lacked knowledge of any dangerous condition at the Intersection. By implementing and complying with its safety monitoring program, HAL, the State met any obligation it may have had under Idaho Code § 40-201 or any statute.³ Thus, the Trial Court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of the State on the basis that the State discharged its statutory duties under Idaho Code § 40-201 with the monitoring scheme implemented with HAL.

² Traffic engineers for each ITD District are given reports for only the top twenty high accident locations is a policy decision driven by financial limitations, and is consistent with the “limit of funds available” language contained in Idaho Code § 40-201.

³ To the extent Idaho Code § 40-201 triggered a duty to *maintain* the Intersection, it was discharged with the maintenance agreement it had with the City of Nampa. Idaho statutes permit the State to enter into such agreements with cities and highway districts for the maintenance of State highways running through cities, counties and other political subdivisions. *See* Idaho Code §§ 40-310(5), (13), 502.

C. Even if HAL Did Not Fulfill Duties Owed Pursuant to Idaho Statutes, the Trial Court Correctly Found that the Plaintiff Did Not Raise a Genuine Issue of Material Fact As to Whether the State Was Negligent.

The Appellant advanced a negligence theory of recovery against the State. In addition to its argument for immunity under Idaho Code § 6-904(7), the State contended that its HAL monitoring duty discharged any statutory duty it owed. In support of this argument, the State submitted the Affidavit of Kevin Sablan. The Appellant, in turn, did not dispute this material fact, which the Trial Court recognized as an independent basis upon which to grant summary judgment in favor of the State.

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e) governs the defense of a motion for summary judgment, and states in relevant part:

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of that party's pleadings, but the party's response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, *must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.*

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